
Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
1 

The meeting of the Community Development Authority of the City of Onalaska was called to 1 
order on Monday, November 14, 2016.  It was noted that the meeting had been announced and a 2 
notice posted at City Hall. 3 
 4 
Roll call was taken with the following members present:  Ann Brandau, Ald. Barry Blomquist, 5 
Ron Johnson, Joe Buchegar, John Lyche.  Mike Gargaro arrived with the meeting in progress. 6 
 7 
Also Present:  Mayor Joe Chilsen, Ald. Harvey Bertrand, Interim Land Use and Development 8 
Director Katie Aspenson, City Engineer Jarrod Holter, LADCO Representative Mike Herro 9 
 10 
Excused Absence:  Ald. Jim Olson 11 
 12 
Item 2 – Approval of minutes from the previous meeting 13 
 14 
Motion by Ron, second by Ann, to approve the minutes from the previous meeting as printed and 15 
on file in the City Clerk’s Office. 16 
 17 
On voice vote, motion carried. 18 
 19 
Item 3 – Public Input (limited to 3 minutes/individual) 20 
 21 
John called for anyone wishing to provide public input. 22 
 23 
Mayor Chilsen told CDA members the Schilling Building has been sold. 24 
 25 
Mike Herro distributed handouts to CDA members and shared the following LADCO updates: 26 
 27 

• Mike encouraged representatives from the City of Onalaska to attend LADCO’s annual 28 
meeting (date to be determined).  Senator Tammy Baldwin (D-WI) is scheduled to speak 29 
at the meeting. 30 

• L.B. White earned the Wisconsin Business Achievement Award given by the Flowers 31 
Family Foundation.  LADCO nominated L.B. White for the award, which includes a 32 
$75,000 donation to support a nonprofit organization of the winner’s choice.  L.B. White 33 
gave half to Couleecap, and the other half was given to the Coulee Region Business 34 
Center, where there currently are more than 22 businesses. 35 

• An economic forum was held October 13 at the Radisson Hotel in La Crosse.  More than 36 
175 individuals attended. 37 

• Lisa Herr and Michael Richards of 7 Rivers Alliance are working on the WISE 38 
(Workforce Innovation for a Strong Economy) Program. 39 

• The City of Onalaska still has an opportunity to examine the Golden Shovel Certified 40 
Sites Program. 41 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
2 

 42 
Mike Herro also noted that LADCO representatives had met earlier this fall with Mayor Chilsen 43 
and Katie regarding a potential prospect for a 5-plus acre site in the International Business Park.  44 
Mike said it looks “fairly positive.” 45 
 46 
John called three times for anyone else wishing to provide public input and closed that portion of 47 
the meeting.  John then welcomed Joe to the CDA and invited him to address its members. 48 
 49 
Joe noted he was a past CDA member and thanked CDA members for welcoming him. 50 
 51 

Consideration and possible action on the following items: 52 
 53 
Item 4 – Election of Community Development Authority (CDA) Vice Chair 54 
 55 
Motion by Mike Gargaro, second by Ald. Blomquist, to nominate and elect Joe Buchegar as 56 
Community Development Authority Vice Chair. 57 
 58 
Ron Johnson was nominated for Community Development Authority Vice Chair by Joe 59 
Buchegar. 60 
 61 
Mike called three times for other nominations for Community Development Authority Vice 62 
Chair and closed nominations. 63 
 64 
On voice vote, motion carried. 65 
 66 
Item 5 – Update and discussion on the Building the Great River Landing Project 67 
 68 
Jarrod shared the following update about the project, which is nearing completion and could be 69 
ready for use by the public the last week in November/early December: 70 
 71 

• The metal roof is being installed. 72 
• The trailhead facility is being painted. 73 
• The parking lot has been paved. 74 
• Light poles are expected to arrive in early December. 75 
• The project’s budget is close to where it was a few months ago. 76 
• A ribbon-cutting ceremony is tentatively scheduled for April 2017. 77 

 78 
John asked if there have been any more archaeological finds at the site. 79 
 80 
Jarrod said no. 81 
 82 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
3 

Mike asked if the site will be open this winter. 83 
 84 
Jarrod said yes, noting that December 15 is the date Wieser Brothers must have the trailhead 85 
facility substantially completed.  Jarrod also noted that Parks and Recreation Director Dan Wick 86 
plans to have staff maintain the building.  Jarrod added he hopes to open the building for the 87 
public between December 1 and December 15. 88 
 89 
Jarrod was asked if blacktop will be placed on the area where visitors currently park. 90 
 91 
Jarrod said this is a temporary parking area and there currently are no plans to pave this area as it 92 
is labeled a future development site.  Jarrod said staff likely will plow that area this winter. 93 
 94 
Ann asked Jarrod if he is receiving public feedback. 95 
 96 
Jarrod said he has not received direct feedback; however, some “negative project vandalism” 97 
occurred at the site.  Jarrod said the contractor has told him individuals are very eager to begin 98 
utilizing the site. 99 
 100 
Ald. Bertrand asked Jarrod where the vandalism had occurred. 101 
 102 
Jarrod said it occurred on the fence. 103 
 104 
John suggested that there should be a discussion regarding the next phase of the project once 105 
individuals have begun utilizing the site in the spring. 106 
 107 
Jarrod said the Great River Landing Committee is taking that approach.  Jarrod also noted that 108 
the 2017 Capital Improvements Budget includes $50,000 for the possible removal of trees along 109 
the railroad tracks. 110 
 111 
Ron asked if there are plans for a public announcement of the opening. 112 
 113 
Jarrod said there has not yet been a formal press release stating the site is open and promised that 114 
a release will be written once an opening date has been determined. 115 
 116 
Joe asked about the status of access over and across the railroad tracks. 117 
 118 
Jarrod said the city currently has a legally approved crossing, adding that staff is attempting to 119 
submit new calculations on the Railroad Quiet Zone.  Jarrod estimated that it likely will take six 120 
months for the Federal Railroad Administration to review the Railroad Quiet Zone, adding that 121 
Burlington Northern Santa Fe has the ability to dispute the city’s findings.  Jarrod said one of the 122 
next phases of the Great River Landing is the possibility of constructing a bridge over the tracks.  123 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
4 

The Great River Landing Committee will be deciding which steps to take regarding future 124 
phases. 125 
 126 
John suggested reaching out to BNSF and inviting representatives to see the work that has been 127 
done at the Great River Landing and also attempt to obtain BNSF’s support. 128 
 129 
Mike suggested finding local restaurants that would be willing to donate prizes.  Mike also asked 130 
if there will be a donation box by the showers. 131 
 132 
Jarrod said there will be a fee to utilize the showers.  Jarrod also said Dan Wick eventually will 133 
discuss programming and uses at the Great River Landing with the Parks and Recreation Board. 134 
 135 
Ron asked if trail passes will be sold from the trailhead facility. 136 
 137 
Jarrod said this is yet to be determined.  Jarrod also noted he had met earlier Monday with 138 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources officials and said he had expressed hope there will 139 
be an interactive kiosk that is funded through Tourism. 140 
 141 
Joe asked if the Wisconsin DNR currently maintains the trail. 142 
 143 
Jarrod said yes, adding the city is looking into assuming part of the maintenance within its 144 
jurisdiction. 145 
 146 
Item 6 – Discussion and consideration of an amendment to the Unified Development Code 147 
(UDC) regarding draft language for the creation of a new Medical Campus Zoning District 148 
 149 
Katie referred to a draft copy included in CDA members’ packets and said all changes have been 150 
underlined.  Katie said she had asked the city’s legal counsel specific questions regarding the 151 
developability of a portion of a 5-acre parcel.  Language has been added to ensure that it is being 152 
appropriately regulated.  Questions regarding taxing implications also had been raised (e.g. what 153 
is and is not taxable, hospitals vs. hotels), as were questions regarding Payments in Lieu of 154 
Taxes.  Katie referred to a copy of a memo from attorney Amanda Jackson of O’Flaherty Heim 155 
Egan & Birnbaum that addresses taxes for hospitals and clinics.  Highlights of the memo include: 156 
 157 

• The tax status of nonprofit hospitals is specifically addressed under Wisconsin Statute 158 
70.11(4m), which exempts both real and personal property used exclusively for the 159 
purposes of any hospital with 10 beds or more devoted primarily to the diagnosis, 160 
treatment or care of the sick, injured or disabled.  Katie said it will not be included in this 161 
zoning district, noting that none of this information is included in the city’s other zoning 162 
districts. 163 

• The exemption also includes certain property leased by a nonprofit hospital when the use 164 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
5 

of the income derived from the lease is only for maintenance of the leased property or 165 
construction debt retirement of the leased property or both. 166 

• Tax exemptions do not apply for property used for commercial purposes. 167 
• Clinics and other outpatient services are not exempt from taxes.  Currently, both the 168 

Gundersen Onalaska Clinic located on South Kinney Coulee Road and the Mayo 169 
Franciscan Healthcare Onalaska Clinic located on Theater Road pay real and personal 170 
property taxes. 171 

• The City of Onalaska recently decided not to adopt a formal ordinance outlining when the 172 
city would seek a PILOT.  The city currently reviews PILOTs on a case-by-case basis. 173 

• Under State of Wisconsin Statute, the city may not condition zoning on whether an 174 
organization pays a PILOT.  Such conditional zoning is illegal. 175 

• There are instances when a city can require a PILOT, such as during the conditional use 176 
permit process.  At other times, organizations may voluntarily enter into a PILOT 177 
agreement.  An example of this is Mayo Clinic Health System, which currently has a 178 
PILOT agreement with the City of La Crosse. 179 

 180 
Katie noted the following changes to the draft ordinance: 181 
 182 

• There are specific definitions for medical campuses, hospitals and clinics. 183 
• The addition of when a public hearing is required – specifically, when the land is rezoned 184 

and/or when a new Medical Campus District is being created.  There would be a $300 185 
rezoning fee, and there would be a $400 cost associated with the review of the creation of 186 
a new MCD.  The cost of a substantial change to a Campus Master Plan would be $400, 187 
and a public hearing would be required.  The city will ask to see an update by the eighth 188 
year of a 10-year plan, and every subsequent 5 years after, and there would be a $200 189 
review fee required. 190 

• Permitted Uses include skilled nursing or rehabilitation facilities, inpatient mental health 191 
facilities, chemical dependency treatment facilities, and nonprofit lodging facilities for 192 
patients and families. 193 

• All Conditional Uses shall be reviewed … and require inpatient care for longer than 30 194 
continuous days. 195 

 196 
John suggested that the words “shall require inpatient that is not intended to be more than 30 197 
continuous days” be added to items 1 through 17 under “Permitted Uses.” 198 
 199 

• Minimum lot area is 5 acres.  Additional lots under common ownership but separated 200 
solely by public right-of-way may also be included in a Campus Master Plan and 201 
designated as part of the MCD. 202 

• Temporary signs shall be allowed on premise provided they do not exceed 15 square feet 203 
in area per side, and must be located on private infrastructure, may not be in the public 204 
right-of-way, nor within 5 feet of the public right-of-way.  Temporary signs may not be 205 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
6 

illuminated.  The locations and frequency of these signs shall be displayed and 206 
considered during review of a conceptual signage plan. 207 

• The developer shall pay all applicable fees from the City of Onalaska Fee Schedule, 208 
including any applicable Impact Fees. 209 

 210 
John referred to “On-Premise Medical Campus Complex Signage” and said 300 square feet of 211 
sign face for signage fronting a public street seems large. 212 
 213 
Katie said this is what is currently in place in any district, citing the example of a Light Industrial 214 
District that fronts a federal or state highway.  Katie said there is a 200-square foot limit if a sign 215 
does not front a highway. 216 
 217 
John said he believes a Conditional Use should be required if a sign exceeds 200 square feet due 218 
to the size of a 300-square foot sign. 219 
 220 
Jarrod said he believes the reasoning behind having a 300-square foot sign is for motorists 221 
driving 65 miles per hour on the highway to see signs for retailers. 222 
 223 
John also suggested the ordinance should be more specific and state that a sign may be 300 224 
square feet if it located on a state highway or a federal-aid street. 225 
 226 
Katie said the ordinance can be mirrored more specifically, and she also noted that both the 227 
Gundersen and Mayo properties have both state and frontage highways and “would be allowed 228 
this regardless.” 229 
 230 
John said that while the city needs to be moving forward, it also must be cognizant of the fact a 231 
majority of the public considers signage a nuisance. 232 
 233 
Katie said it can be changed to more modify the existing ordinance. 234 
 235 
Ann said she interprets the ordinance to mean a sign may measure 300 square feet on any public 236 
street. 237 
 238 
Katie said the 300 square feet could be reduced to 200 square feet so it is consistent with the 239 
city’s ordinance. 240 
 241 
Ann asked Katie if there could be two provisions:  one that states 200 square feet, and one that 242 
states 300 square feet if it is facing a highway. 243 
 244 
Katie said yes. 245 
 246 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
7 

Jarrod said the federal highway to which Katie had referred is U.S. Highway 53 as well as 247 
Interstate 90. 248 
 249 
Katie said State Trunk Highways 16, 35 and 157, and U.S. Highway 53 all fall under the 300-250 
square foot rule, per the State of Wisconsin. 251 
 252 
John noted there is no mention of lighting of the signs. 253 
 254 
Katie said it covers existing ordinance in terms of it must be downcast and shielded. 255 
 256 
John asked Katie to make sure the language pertaining to wall signage is consistent with what the 257 
CDA has discussed today. 258 
 259 
Katie said wall signage will be limited to 500 square feet in sum.  Katie also said the only major 260 
allowance being given in terms of signage that is not completely consistent with the city’s code 261 
is the internal traffic control signs, which are more informational. 262 
 263 
Katie said the draft ordinance has been sent to both Gundersen and Mayo representatives.  Katie 264 
said she is working with legal counsel on questions submitted by Gundersen, adding she hopes to 265 
make contact with Mayo sometime this week regarding additional comments.  Katie said the 266 
plan is to schedule a public hearing for this ordinance at the December 20 Plan Commission 267 
meeting, adding that changes likely can be made until early or mid-December.  The CDA will 268 
have another opportunity to review the draft ordinance at its December 12 meeting.  Katie said it 269 
is possible the ordinance could go into effect by mid-February 2017, following approvals by the 270 
Plan Commission, Administrative and Judiciary Committee and the Common Council. 271 
 272 
John asked Katie if she will ask the CDA to go on record endorsing the plan. 273 
 274 
Katie said she will be asking the CDA to do so at its December 12 meeting. 275 
 276 
Ron asked Katie if Mayo has provided much feedback. 277 
 278 
Katie said she met with Mayo representatives in October, and they raised questions about 279 
architectural review.  Katie also said Mayo representatives seemed to understand the ordinance 280 
the more they read it. 281 
 282 
Mike inquired about nonprofit lodging facilities for patients and families listed under “Permitted 283 
Uses.” 284 
 285 
Katie said these facilities would be comparable to a Ronald McDonald House. 286 
 287 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, November 14, 2016 
8 

Mike asked, “On a Conditional Use, if somebody wanted to come and it ended up being a 288 
hospital – I’m just making that assumption – if somebody decided they’d like to have a hotel … 289 
where does that allow for that to happen?” 290 
 291 
Katie said it would fall under a Conditional Use Permit. 292 
 293 
Mike noted they would have to be there for 30 days or more and asked how such a facility would 294 
be constructed based on that.  Mike said he is unsure if it should be considered a Permitted Use 295 
or a Conditional Use. 296 
 297 
John said he was under the assumption a for-profit hotel would be taxable if it was part of the 298 
campus. 299 
 300 
Adjournment 301 
 302 
Motion by Ann, second by Barry, to adjourn at 5:01 p.m. 303 
 304 
On voice vote, motion carried. 305 
 306 
 307 
Recorded by: 308 
 309 
Kirk Bey 310 

Reviewed 11/16/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 


